ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002129

Indictment No. 2012-GS-10-6844-06845, 06846

RECEIVED

JAN 15 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Appellant,

v.

MARVIN REGINALD BROWN

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge abuse her discretion in granting defendant's motion to suppress a bedside photographic identification by the victim of the defendant where there is evidence that at the time the victim had an awareness of his impending death as a result of his wounds from a gunshot and had expressed those thoughts to his grandfather and sister and his demeanor supported that belief. The trial judge erred in finding that there was no evidence that at the time of the statement on April 29, 2011 that he did not have a belief in his impending death. The evidence was admissible under Rule 804(b)(2) SCRE.
- II. Did the trial judge err and abuse her discretion in finding as a basis for concluding that the victim did not have an awareness or belief in his impending death that "evidence was presented at the pre-trial hearing suggested that the victim was planning on seeking revenge against the assailant" when no evidence supporting that conclusion was presented at the March 26, 2013 hearing nor in any medical record introduced as an exhibit. Since there is no evidence to support this "finding" or inference from the unsupported finding, it is an abuse of discretion where the record supports a conclusion the Davon Goodwin had a belief in his impending death on April 29, 2011 after his extensive surgeries for the effect of gunshot wounds reflected in his grave demeanor and morbid discussions with family members.
- III. When the victim died on May 4 from the gunshot wounds he received on April 26 and the victim had been subjected to two surgeries and evidence was that at the time of the statement the victim had just been transferred to the Intensive Care Unit, was in great pain and weakened from the surgeries, and in the bed, did the trial court err in concluding that that the medical records showed no imminence of death at the time of the statement on April 29 because there was asserted improvement in the medical records and physical therapy and concluded this prevented his statement from qualifying under Rule 804(b)(2) because he did not die when his condition on May 4 caused his death from the same injuries and the Court has held the length of time the declarant lives after making the declaration is immaterial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the State of South Carolina to the granting of a motion to suppress hearsay testimony and exclude the victim's identification and rejecting its admissibility as a dying declaration in a written order dated August 18, 2014. The defendant, Marvin Reginald Brown, was indicted by the Court of General Sessions for murder, armed robbery and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. 2012-GS-10-6844, 6845, 6846. On March 25, 2013, the defendant, Marvin Brown, through appointed counsel Cody J. Groeber, Assistant Public Defender, made a motion to suppress hearsay testimony of Detective Jerome Fleming concerning the April 29, 2011 photographic identification of Brown by Davon Goodwin at the Medical University of South Carolina where he had surgery as a result of an April 26, 2011 gunshot wound. The victim died on May 4, 2011.

The victim, Davon Goodwin, was shot on April 26, 2011, around 2 a.m., on America Street in downtown Charleston, South Carolina. R.p. 135, Order, p. 1. He was transported to the Medical University of South Carolina, where he underwent surgery that same day. He was subjected to a second surgery on April 27, 2011. He made it through surgery and regained consciousness sometime on April 27, 2011. The following day, the victim's breathing tube was removed, and he was able to converse with his family and doctors. On April 29, 2011, Detective Fleming of the Charleston Police Department interviewed the victim. Detective Fleming read him a standard admonition form for photographic lineups. The victim identified the Defendant in a six-pack photo lineup. There is a partial audio recording of this identification procedure. On May 4, 2011, the victim died from complications of the gunshot wound.

In his motion to suppress, Brown claimed that the admission of the deceased's identification of Brown from a 6-person photographic line-up was a violation of the Sixth

Amendment Confrontation Clause and alternately inadmissible as hearsay and asserted the evidence failed to qualify as a dying declaration exception under Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE. R.p. 119-129, Memo in Support of Motion to Suppress Hearsay Testimony, p. 2-12.

The State made written opposition to the motion to suppress through Assistant Benjamin Chad Simpson. R.p, 131-34, "Source Citations in Response to Defense Motion to Suppress". p. 1-4.

On March 26, 2013, a suppression hearing was held before the Honorable Stephanie McDonald, then Circuit Court Judge. The defendant was present and represented by Mr. Groeber and Megan Ehrlich of the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Simpson. At the hearing, testimony was received from former investigator Jerome Fleming (R. 8-44, Tr. 8-44), the victim's grandfather, David Allen Brunson, Jr. (R. 45-48, 67-70, Tr. 45-48, 67-70), the victims' father, David Allen Brunson, III (R.p. 49-57, Tr. 49-57), the victim's sister, Dendria Brunson, (R. 57-79, Tr. 57-59) and the victim's brother, Desmonte Brunson, (R. 59-62, Tr. 59-62).

After testimony, argument was heard from counsel. R.p. 63-67, Tr. 63-67. At that point, the victim's grandfather was recalled concerning the timing of his conversations with the victim. R. 67-70, Tr. 67-70.

At that point, further argument was heard on the Confrontation Clause and "dying declaration" issue. R. 70-90, Tr. 70-90. [Argument was also heard on a Neil v. Biggers issue concerning the identification procedures concerning a separate motion. R. 90-96, Tr. p. 90-96. Judge McDonald orally found the identification was not "unduly suggestive" and reliable. Judge McDonald concluded she "would not exclude the identification under Neil v. Biggers. R. 96, Tr. p. 96, ll. 2-25]. Judge McDonald took under advisement the issue of whether the statement

qualified as a “dying declaration” and whether it was a Confrontation Clause violation under Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

On December 10, 2013, a hearing was convened to address the dying declaration issue and bond. At the hearing Judge McDonald made an oral ruling concluding it did not qualify within Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE concerning a statement upon belief of impending death. R. 104, Dec. 10, 2013 Tr. p. 3, 14-15. The trial court did not address the Confrontation Clause issue. R. 104-09, Tr. 3-8.

On August 18, 2014, Judge McDonald filed a written Order styled “Order Granting Defendant’s Motion to Exclude Hearsay Testimony of victim’s Identification.” In particular, Judge McDonald concluded that: “neither the medical records nor other evidence in the case demonstrates that the victim was aware of his imminent death when identifying the photograph of the defendant in a six-pack line-up.” R. 138, Order, p. 4.

The State filed a notice of appeal on August 26, 2014 pursuant to State v. McKnight, 287 S.C. 167, 337 S.E.2d 208 (1985) asserting the suppression of this evidence significantly impaired the prosecution.

This briefing follows.¹

¹ An earlier notice of appeal was served on December 20, 2013 and filed from the December 10, 2013 oral order granting the suppression motion. On January 24, 2014, the South Carolina Court of Appeals entered an order dismissing the December 20, 2013 notice of appeal without prejudice as premature because the trial judge had not issued a written order.

ARGUMENT

- II. The trial judge abused her discretion in granting the motion to suppress the victim's statement where there is evidence that at the time of the photographic identification to Detective Fleming the victim believed his death was imminent reflected in his statements to his grandfather and sister concerning his future without them and his medical condition.**
- a. Contrary to the trial court's finding, there is no evidence in the record of the hearing that the victim was planning on seeking revenge against Brown which the trial court erroneously partially based its rejection.**
 - b. Contrary to the conclusion of the trial, death did not have to actually be imminent at the time of the statement.**
 - c. The statement was admissible under Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE.**

The trial court erred in finding the statement of Davon Goodwin on April 29, 2011 from his hospital bed after surgery from a gunshot wound of April 26, 2011 was not admissible as a "dying declaration" under Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE. The error arises from the court's conclusion that there was "no evidence" "that the victim was aware of his imminent death when identifying the photograph of the defendant from the six-pack line-up." R. 138, Order, p. 4. However, the record reflects there was evidence presented through his grandfather that Davon Goodwin was aware of his imminent death. R. 46-48, 68, 70, Tr. p. 46-48, p. 68, ll. 16-20, p. 70, ll. 2-4. In addition, there was evidence from his sister that he "seemed tired and ready to go home", which the family interpreted as ready to die. R. 58, 99, Tr. p. 58, ll. 19-22, p. 99, ll. 13-19. Further, the trial court's conclusion that death had to actually be imminent and was not imminent in this case was a misreading of Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE and State v. McHoney which concluded that the length of time the declarant lives after making a declaration under a belief of imminent death was immaterial, particular under the victim's circumstances in this case and his death on May 4,

2011.

Further, reflecting a strong error in the Order of Suppression, the trial court based its rejection of Davon Goodwin's belief of imminent death:

Furthermore, evidence presented at the pre-trial hearing suggested that the victim was planning on seeking revenge against his assailant. This is inconsistent with both an awareness of imminent death as well as one who has given up all hope of survival. Ex. A, 464.

R. 138, Order, p. 4, ¶ 2. However, there was no evidence at the hearing to support this finding of revenge. There is no evidence that Davon was planning his revenge presented by any witness at the hearing. R. 1-101, Tr. p. 1-101. The trial judge's citation to Ex. A p. 464 does not concern anything about a motive or plan to revenge or "seeking revenge", but is only a record reference to chaplain visits which did not include any contact with Davon Goodwin. Ex. A p. 464 (MUSC Records).²

Simply put, the trial judge mistakenly rejected the showing of belief in imminent death on unsupported facts and the unfounded inference from the facts. This was an abuse of discretion.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

State's Right to Immediately Appeal Pre-Trial Suppression Ruling

An appeal ordinarily may be pursued only after a party has obtained a final judgment." Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 194, 607 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2005). However, "[a] pre-trial order granting the suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case is directly appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a)." McKnight, 287 S.C., 168. "Under McKnight, the State has the right to immediately appeal a trial court's

² The State notes that in the pre-trial "memo in Support of Motion to Suppress Hearsay Testimony", Brown's counsel stated: "Furthermore, there is evidence to be presented at the pre-trial hearing that the victim was planning on seeking revenge." R. 129, Memo., p. 12. However, at the hearing, such evidence was not presented.

suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of the case.” State v. Belviso, 360 S.C. 112, 115, 600 S.E.2d 68, 70 (Ct. App. 2004).

Admissibility of Evidence

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only, and are therefore bound by the trial court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 526, 765 S.E.2d 564, 568 (2014). “The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial [court], whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 463, 761 S.E.2d 770, 775 (Ct. App. 2014). “Because the admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, appellate courts should not reverse the decision of the trial court absent an abuse of discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015)(internal quotation marks omitted). The determination by the trial court of the preliminary facts, on which the competency of a dying declaration depends, will not be disturbed on appeal “unless clearly incorrect and prejudicial.” State v. Bethea, 241 S.C. 16, 23, 126 S.E.2d 846, 849 - 850 (1962) citing State v. Franklin, 80 S.C. 332, 60 S.E. 953 (1908); State v. Smalls, 87 S.C. 550, 70 S.E. 300 (1911); State v. Marshall, 111 S.C. 356, 98 S.E. 130 (1919).

“On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, [an appellate court] applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error.” State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014)(internal quotation marks omitted). “However, [an appellate court] reviews questions of law de novo.” *Id.*

Dying Declaration as an Exception to Hearsay

Hearsay is not admissible unless it fits within an exception to the hearsay rule. Rule 802, SCRE. The State sought to introduce the victim's identification of Marvin Brown as her killer under the dying declaration exception. Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE. The Rule states in pertinent part:

(b) Hearsay Exceptions. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

2) Statement Under Belief of Impending Death. In a prosecution for homicide or in a civil action or proceeding, **a statement made by a declarant while believing that the declarant's death was imminent**, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death.

A statement made under the belief of impending death is not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness in a prosecution for homicide, the statement is made by a declarant while believing the declarant's death is imminent, and the statement concerned the causes or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death. Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE; *see also* 29A Am.Jur.2d, Evidence § 829 (2000) (“In a homicide prosecution, the dying declaration must bear on the fact of the homicide and the person by whom it was committed. Such statements must be made voluntarily and in good faith. In addition, such statement must be made under a sense of impending death.”).³ Accord, State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 544 S.E.2d 30 (2001).

The commentators have generally addressed this condition:

It is essential that a dying declaration be made when the declarant has abandoned all hope of recovery from the injury inflicted by the accused and

³ Under the long established common law rule of evidence, which we quote from State v. Johnson, 26 S.C. 152, 1 S.E. 510 (1887), dying declarations are competent evidence, for or against the accused, upon preliminary proof of certain conditions.:

‘The rules in regard to such testimony are well settled: 1st. That death must be imminent at the time the declarations in question are made. 2nd. That the declarant must be so fully aware of this as to be without any hope of life. * * * And 3rd. That the ‘subject of the charge’ must be the death of the declarant, and the circumstances of the death must be the subject of the declarations.’

Bethea, 241 S.C., 21-22, citing Johnson, 26 S.C. 152.

is firmly convinced that death is inevitable and near at hand.

It is not enough that the statement be made when the declarant is in extremis as the statement must be made when the declarant is conscious of impending death.[FN1] The fact that the declarant believes that there is great danger and entertains a fear of dying is not sufficient.[FN2] The declarant must possess the requisite state of mind simultaneously with the statement.[FN3] For a deceased's statement to be admissible as a dying declaration, it need only appear to the court from the circumstances of the case that there was a probability that the deceased was conscious of his condition at the time he made the statement.[FN4] The testimony need not contain any statement by the deceased to the effect that he or she was conscious of impending death at the time the declarations were made since this may be inferred from the nature of the wounds and other circumstances.[FN5]

It is immaterial how or by what means the deceased became conscious of dying.[FN6] For instance, it is no objection to the admissibility of the declarations that the declarant's belief of impending death was induced by the statements of attendants.[FN7] Conversely, the statement is not rendered inadmissible by the fact that no physician or other person had told the declarant that death was impending[FN8] or that witnesses had told the declarant that death was not impending.[FN9]

It has been held that the declarant must believe that there is no hope of recovery.[FN10] Under this view, the declarations are inadmissible if the deceased had the slightest hope of recovery when they were made.[FN11] On the other hand, it has also been held that it is not necessary that all hope of recovery be abandoned.[FN12] In any event, a statement should not be rejected as a dying declaration when only nebulous rays of hope exist.[FN13] For a dying declaration to be admissible, the declarant's belief in impending death must be strong enough that the ordinary worldly motives for misstatement are not operative.[FN14]

There is authority for the view that the person making the declaration must entertain a settled and hopeless expectation of immediate or, in other words, of impending death[FN15] and that the declarant's mere belief that there will be no recovery from the injuries is not sufficient to admit the declarations into evidence.[FN16] However, there is contrary authority.[FN17]

C.JS Homicide, § 389. (footnotes omitted).

A mere belief that death was possible, or even probable, is not sufficient; the declarant must be virtually certain that death is imminent. In other words, the declarant must have abandoned all hope of recovery.[FN94] If the declarant believed in his impending death at the time he made the declaration, it does not matter that he later believed that he would recover.[FN95]

A request to a doctor, "Try to get me well," does not render a dying declaration made at that time inadmissible.[FN96] The dying person need not state expressly that he knows he is going to die. The use of any words equivalent to such a statement will suffice.[FN97] However, a statement that indicates the declarant retains some hope of recovery which, in turn, precludes a firm conviction of the imminence of death, will render a dying declaration inadmissible.[FN98]

Wharton's Criminal Evidence, § 6:30. Dying Declarations (Dec. 2014).

The central issue in determining whether a statement is a dying declaration is whether the declarant believed he or she was dying.[FN1] To render a dying declaration admissible, the declarant must have uttered it with a consciousness of impending death.[FN2] Where a death is sudden and unexpected the declaration will be inadmissible under the exception for dying declarations.[FN3] A mere belief that death was possible, or even probable, is not sufficient; the declarant must be virtually certain that death is imminent.[FN4] There must be a settled, hopeless expectation that death is near at hand and no statements indicating a hope for recovery,[FN5] although a declarant's urgent request for an ambulance would not necessarily show that he or she entertained some hope of recovery.[FN6] Similarly, the fact that the declarant requested a doctor does not, in itself, render the declaration inadmissible.[FN7] In addition, if the declarant believed in his or her impending death at the time of the declaration, it does not matter that, after the declaration, hope was revived and the declarant believed that he or she would recover.[FN8]

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