ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Charleston County

JAN 26 2016

Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

MARVIN REGINALD BROWN

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002129

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT.

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

*Dying Declarations – Common Law through the Rules of Evidence*

Under the common law, the conditions authorizing the admission of dying declarations were (1) the imminence of death of the deceased; (2) that deceased was without hope of recovery; (3) that the circumstances of the death were the subject of the declaration. State v. Smalls, 87 S.C. 550, 550, 70 S.E. 300, 301 (1911); see also State v. Johnson, 26 S.C. 152, 152, 1 S.E. 510, 510 (1887)(explaining the rules for dying declarations are “well settled” requiring (1) the death be imminent at the time the declarations are made, (2) that the declarant “be so fully aware of imminent death as to be without any hope of life,” and (3) the subject of the declaration must be the imminent death and circumstances of the death); State v. Long, 93 S.C. 502, 77 S.E. 61 (1912); State v. Hall, 134 S.C. 361, 133 S.E. 24 (1926)(explaining that the death of the deceased must be imminent at the time of the declarations).

The common law permitted the introduction of dying declarations due to their inherent reliability in light of the declarant being so fully aware of his imminent death as to be without any hope of life. State v. Quick, 49 S.C.L. (15 Rich.) 342 (Ct. App. 1868). “This condition of the person is considered as constituting as strong a guarantee for the truth of the declaration, as an oath is of ordinary testimony. There must be few that would be

willing to pass immediately into the presence of that Almighty Judge, whose eye penetrates all disguise, with a lie upon his lips.” Id. A dying declaration is admissible because it occurs “when a party is at the point of death, and is conscious of it – when every hope of this world is gone, and every motive to falsehood is silenced by the most powerful considerations to speak the truth.” State v. Belcher, 13 S.C. 459, 463 (1880).

“The principle on which death bed declarations are admitted is that of necessity.” State v. Ferguson, 20 S.C.L. (2 Hill) 619, 624 (1835). “No one who has a proper sense of religion or who believes in a future state of rewards and punishments, would willingly incur the guilt of falsehood, who had before him the immediate prospect of a final account for the deeds done in the body, when every word, thought and deed of evil, must rise up for his condemnation.” Id. In order to introduce statements by the deceased as dying declarations, the proponent must present evidence “that the deceased was in *extremis*, and that he himself was conscious of his approaching death.” Id. This evidence may be produced from the conversation of the deceased “or from other circumstances indicating such a state of mind.” Id.

In Belcher, 13 S.C. at 463, the Court held statements of a wife to her doctor that her husband, the defendant, caused her injuries did “not come within the definition of dying declarations.” The Court explained the wife “was afflicted with a lingering disease” and did not die until nearly three months after her statement to the doctor. Id. According to the Court, the wife’s statement was not made knowing her death was imminent where wife stated “she thought at the time the violence was inflicted that ‘she would then die,’ but she did not say that, at the time she made the statement, she considered herself in the very presence of death – soon to occur.” Id.

In Johnson, 26 S.C. at 152, 1 S.E. at 510, the deceased was shot on September 20, 1886. The following day, the deceased gave a statement concerning the circumstances of his injury to a witness, who later testified the deceased was “lying on a bed in his house in a weak condition,” was “in a very low condition,” and “did not sign the declaration because he was unable to do so.” Id. at 152, 1 S.E. at 510-511. The witness asked the deceased if he thought he would get well or die and the witness responded that he did not know, but he did not think he would ever get well. Id. at 152, 1 S.E. at 511. Thereafter, the deceased gave the witness an account of how he received the fatal wound. Id. The Court held “this question and answer were quite sufficient to show that the deceased had no hope of recovery at the time.” Id. Additionally, the Court noted the circumstances surrounding the declaration demonstrated the deceased was full conscious of his impending death:

Here was a man lying on his bed “in a very low condition,” suffering from a wound inflicted with a deadly weapon, in close conflict, which very speedily proved to be mortal, with the film of death then probably spreading over his eyes, as shown by his inability to see ... and with the numbness of death then probably creeping up his extremities. ... When it is remembered that not a word was said, either by the deceased or by the doctor, or any one else, indicating that there was any hope for the recovery of deceased, and considering the very low condition in which the deceased was, of which he was manifestly conscious.

Id.

The Court explained that to show a dying declaration is made under a belief of a speedily impending death, it is not necessary to show “any set form of words.” Id. at 152, 1 S.E. at 511-512. Rather, “the court must draw a rational conclusion from all that was said, taken in connection with such surrounding circumstances as must have been known to the declarant, as to whether or not the declarant was in such a condition of mind as would render his declarations competent.” Id. at 152, 1 S.E. at 512.

In State v. Banister, 35 S.C. 290, 290, 14 S.E. 678, 680 (1892), the deceased was shot on a Thursday afternoon and died the following Monday morning. Id. On the evening he was shot, the deceased told a witness that his brother, the defendant, had shot him. Id. at 290, 14 S.E. at 681. Additionally, the witness claimed the deceased said “‘he would be obliged to die; that he was going to die, and was obliged to die’” and “‘he could not get well.’” Id. However, the defendant called a witness who testified that on the third day after he was shot, the deceased said he was better and thought he would get well. Id. Other witnesses also testified to not hearing the deceased “express any apprehensions of dying.” Id.

The doctor who examined deceased told him that “the ball ha[d] entered [his] brain” and could not be located. Id. The doctor advised him that some people recovered from head wounds, but there were none on record “where a foreign body was imbedded in the brain.” Id. The deceased never shared with the doctor whether he thought he was going to die or recover. Id. However, the doctor stated the deceased understood his death “would probably result from the wound.” Id.

The Supreme Court affirmed the trial judge’s finding that the statements were admissible as dying declarations. Id. The Court was persuaded “the expression of the deceased, that he was ‘obliged to die,’ made after the examination of the physician, which informed him of the fact that the bullet was lodged in his brain, was abundantly sufficient to show that deceased had lost all hope of recovery.” Id.

However, the Supreme Court also affirmed the trial judge’s ruling that other statements by the deceased were not admissible as dying declarations. A witness claimed that on the Sunday before the deceased died, he told her someone other than the defendant

had shot him. Id. However, the deceased thought he was getting better on the day of this statement. Id. The Court held the deceased's statements were not a dying declaration because "the deceased was not then in the condition of mind required by the rule as he then thought he was getting better." Id.

In State v. Jagers, 58 S.C. 41; 41, 36 S.E. 434, 435 (1900), the deceased was shot on the morning of October 3, 1899 between 9:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. A witness found the deceased between ten and fifteen minutes after the shooting. Id. The deceased said he was "shot bad" and "did not expect to live." Id. Around 3:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m., the sheriff and the magistrate met with the deceased, who was "sleeping under the influence of opiates." Id. The magistrate shook the deceased awake and took a statement regarding the circumstances of the shooting. Id. Although the magistrate told the deceased he might die, the deceased made no indication of his belief regarding his death. Id. According to the magistrate, the deceased was under the influence of morphine at the time, did not manifest any concern about himself, and "seemed to be perfectly easy." Id. Another witness claimed that between 9:00 p.m. and 10:00 p.m. on the day of the shooting, the deceased expressed "no hope of himself." Id. The deceased died the following day at noon. Id.

The Court found no evidence "to show that the deceased, at the time he made the declarations in question, was so fully aware that his death was imminent as to have lost all hope of recovery." Id. In fact, the Court held "the testimony rather tends to show the contrary." Id. The Court pointed to the fact that the deceased was sleeping quietly, and when awakened, sat up in bed and drank a glass of milk. Id. According to the Court, the deceased "certainly said nothing and did nothing tending to show that he was conscious of impending death." Id. Even when the magistrate told the deceased that he might die, "the

deceased expressed no apprehension, and in no way indicated that he was uneasy about his condition.” Id. The Court explained that “while it may be true that, under the excitement of the moment” of being shot, the deceased may have thought he was going to die, it did “not at all follow that he still entertained those same apprehensions” several hours later when he was resting “perfectly easy.” Id.

In Franklin, 80 S.C. at 332, 60 S.E. at 955, the Court found the deceased’s dying declarations admissible where two witnesses testified the deceased indicated “he was fatally shot,” “was in a bad fix,” and “was in a dying condition.” Not only did the deceased refer to his wound as a “death shot,” but he removed his watch and handed it to someone nothing he would “have no further use for it.” Id.

In State v. Hall, 127 S.C. 256, 256, 120 S.E. 849, 850 (1924), the Court held “[t]he evidence that the deceased had given up all hope of life was not clear enough to allow the introduction” of a statement as a dying declaration. The deceased lived about a month after sustaining a fatal injury. Id. He made a statement to a witness “about three days before he died.” Id. The witness testified the deceased said he “had to die” and “he could not live.” Id. “The deceased had been very ill and thought that he would die nearly a month before.” Id. However, he recovered, but had a relapse. Id. The Court found “no intimation that The deceased expected immediate death. The death he expected was death from disease, and not the immediate death from a mortal wound.” Id. The Court held the deceased’s statement to the witness did “not indicate that the deceased had abandoned all hope of recovery, but simply that at the time he thought that he would die.” Id. “There [was] no evidence that at the time the dying declaration was written down the deceased had abandoned hope.” Id.

In State v. Hall, 134 S.C. 361, 361, 133 S.E. 24, 25 (1926), the defendant and the deceased fought between 8 and 9 o'clock at night. The deceased was found early the next morning "helpless, badly beaten up, and bleeding from a wound in his head." Id. He was carried to his home and put to bed. Id. That morning, he told his wife and daughter that the defendant had beaten and robbed him. Id. Although he developed pneumonia, he "recovered sufficiently to sit up around the house." Id. However, he suffered a relapse, and died thirty-three days after the fight with the defendant. Id.

At the defendant's trial, the prosecution sought to admit The deceased's statement to his wife and daughter as a "dying declaration." Id. The wife and daughter claimed The deceased told them he was dying and had no hope at the time of the declaration. Id. Further, the two claimed the deceased was in agony every day until he died. Id. A doctor examined The deceased five or six days after the fight. Id. He claimed the deceased was in "very critical condition" and was "suffering from pneumonia." Id. According to the doctor, the deceased was "in imminent peril of death at that time." Id. Additionally, the doctor testified the deceased's "condition was extremely critical from the moment, from the time of the trauma, the time of the assault, up until the time of his actual death; he was at all times in extreme danger." Id.

The Supreme Court held the testimony by mother, daughter, and doctor established the necessary foundation for finding the deceased's statements to be dying declarations. Id. at 361, 133 S.E. at 26. The Court was not persuaded that the "length of time intervening between the assault and the death render[ed] the declaration inadmissible." Id. The Court explained that it is "not the rapid succession of death ... that renders the testimony

admissible”; instead, “[i]t is the impression of almost immediate dissolution” that must be present. Id.

In State v. Davis, 138 S.C. 532, 532, 137 S.E. 139, 140 (1927), the Court emphasized the importance of a declarant making the statement, subsequently offered as a dying declaration, in *extremis*, and fully conscious of his impending dissolution. According to the Court, “it is not alone sufficient that the declarant believe that he is about to die; to be admissible under the dying declarations rule, his dying declarations must have been made while he was in *extremis*. And even though the declarant was in *extremis*, his declarations are not admissible unless they were made by him while he was under a sense of impending death.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). In other words, “[t]o render his declarations admissible, the declarant must not only believe that he is about to die, but must be without hope or expectation of recovery.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). “[I]f the deceased had the slightest hope of recovery, when the declarations were made, they were inadmissible.” Id. (internal quotation omitted).

The Court held that statements by the deceased to a doctor while being taken from his home to a hospital in Columbia after the shooting were not dying declarations because there was no evidence the declarant had abandoned all hope of recovery. Id. The deceased told the doctor he did not believe he was going to make it. Id. The Court noted that what the deceased meant by those words was unknown, but the doctor interpreted them to mean the deceased did not believe he would get well. Id. As a result, the doctor encouraged him to think he would recover, but the success of the encouragement was unknown. Id. Nevertheless, the Court held it did “not appear from the language used that he had abandoned all hope of recovery.” Id. “While he was uneasy and anxious about his

condition, he had not given up all hope of life.” Id. Therefore, the declarant’s statements to the doctor should not have been admitted. Id.

Although many of the concepts contained within the Rules had been adopted by the Supreme Court through case law, South Carolina formally adopted the South Carolina Rules of Evidence effective September 3, 1995. Just as the common law did, the Rules of Evidence prohibited the introduction of hearsay: “Hearsay is not admissible.” Rule 802, SCRE. “‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE.

Additionally, the Rules of Evidence “codified” the common law exception to hearsay for dying declarations. When the declarant is unavailable as a witness, hearsay may be admissible “[i]n a prosecution for homicide” when the proffered statement was “made by a declarant while believing that the declarant’s death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death.” Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE. As explained by the drafter’s note, the Rule altered the common law regarding “dying declarations” by “broaden[ing] the admissibility of dying declarations by making them admissible in civil cases” and “relax[ing]” the “rigid requirement that the declarant must actually have died” except in homicide prosecutions. Rule 804 note, SCRE.<sup>5</sup>

The only published case in South Carolina examining “dying declarations” since the adoption of the Rules of Evidence is State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 93, 544 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2001). Contrary to the state’s assertion at trial, which was not argued on appeal, the Court

---

<sup>5</sup> In Sligh v. Newberry Elec. Co-Op., 216 S.C. 401, 419, 58 S.E.2d 675, 683 (1950), the Supreme Court explained that under the common law a dying declaration was only admitted in cases of criminal homicide.

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